ORIGINA 1792 Ä UPREME COURT. CLERK. Chief Departy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 79-164

METRO-DADE FIRE RESCUE SERVICE DISTRICT,

Petitioner,

v.

METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

> Bruce Rogow Florida Bar No. 067999 Bruce S. Rogow, P.A. 2441 S.W. 28th Avenue Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33312 (305) 524-2465 and Beverly Pohl Florida Bar No. 907250 350 S.E. 2nd Street Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (305) 767-8909

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Case

The <u>en banc</u> Third District Court of Appeal has certified "that the questions resolved in this case are ones of great public importance." <u>Metropolitan Dade County</u> v. <u>Metro-Dade Fire Rescue</u> <u>Service District</u>, 589 So.2d 920,924 n.6 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991) (en banc).

The questions presented arise from a conflict between a county charter provision mandating that an independent body, not the Dade County Commission, govern the Fire Rescue Service District, and the Commission's passage of ordinances precluding independent governance. The Fire Rescue Service District's Motion To Certify the question as one of great public importance framed the proposed question this way:

> WHEN A COUNTY CHARTER EXPRESSLY DECREES THAT THE COUNTY COMMISSION SHALL NOT BE THE GOVERNING BODY OF A COMMISSION-CREATEDSPECIALDISTRICT, AND WHEN THE CHARTER EXPLICITLY CREATES A NEWLY-ELECTED GOVERNING BODY, MAY A COUNTY COMMISSION ENACT ORDINANCES WHICH PRECLUDE GOVERNANCE BY THE CHARTER-MANDATED GOVERNING BODY?

The <u>en banc</u> court, by a six to four vote, concluded the Commission's actions were not invalid. That decision reversed a trial court's final summary judgment finding various Dade County Ordinances to be invalid because they contravened the Dade County Home Rule Charter.

-1-

B. <u>The Facts</u>

The facts are undisputed. In 1980 the Dade County Board of County Commissioners enacted an ordinance creating a special purpose district called the "Metro-Dade Fire and Rescue Service District." A companion ordinance (No. 18-27) provided that "The Board of County Commissioners shall be the governing body of the District." These ordinances were consistent with the Dade County Home Rule Charter which gave the Board of County Commissioners the power to establish special districts and provided at that time:

> The Board of County Commissioners shall be the governing body of all such districts and when acting as such governing body shall have the same jurisdiction and powers as when acting as the Board.

Dade County Charter, Section 1.01(A)(11).

In September, 1986, the voters of Dade County approved an amendment to Section 1.01(A)(11) of the Charter. The amendment removed the Board of County Commissioners as the governing body of the Metro-Dade Fire and Rescue Service District, and replaced them with five persons to be elected by the registered voters within the District:'

> The Board of County Commissioners shall be the governing body of all such districts and when acting as such governing body shall have the same jurisdiction and powers as when acting as the Board; provided, however, the Board of County Commissioners shall not be the governing body of the Metro-Dad@ Fire and Rescue

-2-

¹/ The Metro-Dade Fire Rescue Service District does not encompass those municipalities within Dade County which still maintain their own city fire and rescue departments. At the present, the District provides fire and rescue services to approximately 65% of the Dade County population. 589 So.2d at 925.

Service District estat ished by Ordinance No. 80-86, but said Fire and Rescue Service District shall be aoverned by five members elected for initial terms of two years by the registered voters of the Metro-Dade Fire and Rescue Service District.

Charter, Section 1.01(A)(11) (as amended, September, 1986) (amendment is underscored).

In response, in June, 1987, the Board of County Commissioners amended Section 18-27 of its Fire and Rescue Service District ordinances and enacted Section 18-33. Those ordinances are set forth below:

> <u>Sec. 18-33 Powers of the Governing Body</u> [of the Metro-Dade Fire and Rescue Service District].

> The governing body shall have the following duties, functions and responsibilities:

(a) To make recommendations concerning all matters relating to the provision of fire and rescue services, and to make periodic reports and recommendations in respect to such matters.

(b) To make a continuing study of the existing fire and rescue services within the district and the future needs of the district.

(C) To formulate plans and programs for the coordination of the activities of the district with the fire and rescue services provided by other governmental units within the county and in neighboring counties.

(d) To make a continuing study and periodic reports and recommendations for a sound, feasible program for financing the costs of improving existing fire and rescue facilities and services and providing additional fire and rescue services and facilities. (e) To perform and carry out such other duties and functions as may be assigned by the county commission.

(f) To sue and be sued.

The governing body shall have no power or authority to commit the county government to any policies or to incur any financial obligation or to create any liability on the part of the county or district. No actions or recommendations of this board shall be binding upon either the county or the district until approved or adopted by the county commission.

* * *

<u>See. 18-27 Membership on Governing Body</u> (as amended June, 1987)

(a) The governing body of the district shall be comprised of five members elected on March 8, 1988, or at any earlier county-wide election, for initial terms of two years by the registered voters of the district.

(b) Each member shall be a qualified elector of Dade County residing within the district.

(c) In the event of a vacancy on the governing body, the members of the board of county commissioners shall, by majority vote, appoint a qualified individual to serve the remainder of the member's term for whom the replacement is appointed.

(d) The chairperson and vice chairperson of the governing body shall be selected by a majority of the members of the governing body.

(e) Members of the governing body shall serve without compensation, salary or remuneration of any nature, but the county commission may provide in the annual district budget sufficient funds for the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by the members in the performance of their duties and functions. In March, 1988, the registered voters of the Fire and Rescue Service District elected the five persons who, pursuant to the Amended Charter, were to be the "governing body" of the Fire and Rescue Service District. That body ("The Fire and Rescue Service Board") and its elected successors brought and maintained this action challenging the validity of Sections 18-27 and 18-33 insofar as those ordinances precluded the elected Fire and Rescue Service Board from governing the District.

The Fire and Rescue Service Board prevailed in the trial court. That judgment **was** reversed by the Third District. The <u>en</u> <u>banc</u> District Court **of** Appeal held:

Simply put, the determination of what powers may be exercised by the governing body of the Fire District is not up to the governing body itself, but to the legislative body that created the district. The County Commission's legislative authority over the governing body of the Fire District allows the Commission to determine the scope of that governing body's powers.

589 So,2d at 922. The four dissenters viewed it differently:

The final paragraph of section 18-33 is the crucial one, for it expressly decrees the "governing body" -- the new, that elected board-has no power to take any action "until approved or adopted by the county commission." Id. This was a blatant arrogation of power. What the voters gave to the District in 1986 the County Commission took back in 1987. The Commission conferred on itself all final decision-making power on all matters.... Where, as here, the County Commission reserves to itself all decision-making power, it is abundantly clear that the County Commission has retained in **its own** hands the "governing body" functions that the electorate told it to relinquish.... The trial court ruled, I think entirely correctly, that the ordinance facially violates the 1986 charter amendment.

-5-

That conclusion was not only sound, but inescapable.

589 So.2d at 926-27 (Cope, J., dissenting).

The District Court of Appeal certified the presence of questions of great public importance. 589 So.2d at 924, n.6. The Metro-Dade Fire Rescue Service District seeks review and reversal of the decision below.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Words must be given their usual and obvious meaning. <u>Citv of</u> <u>Jacksonville</u> v. <u>Glidden Co.</u>, 169 So. 216,217 (Fla. 1936). The words of a home rule county charter are paramount within the county, and all ordinances must be consistent with the mandates of the charter. <u>Hollywood, Inc.</u> v. <u>Broward County</u>, 431 So.2d 606,609 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), citing <u>City of Miami Beach</u> v. <u>Fleetwood Hotel</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 261 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1972).

The 1986 amendment to the Dade County Charter specifically precludedthe Board of County Commissioners from governingthe Fire and Rescue Service District. That amendment made a newly elected independent board the "governing body" of the District. The subsequently enacted Dade County Ordinances which prevented that Board from gaverning, placing governance back with the County Commission, are invalid because they conflict with the plain words of the Charter.

ARGUMENT

A COUNTY ORDINANCE CANNOT OVERRIDE THE MANDATORY PROVISIONS OF A COUNTY CHARTER. DADE COUNTY ORDINANCE § 18-33 AND § 18-27(e) ARE INVALID BECAUSE THEY CONFLICT WITH THE DADE COUNTY CHARTER

Article VIII, Section 11 of the Florida Constitution provides that "The electors of Dade County, Florida, are granted power to adopt, revise, and amend from time to time a home rule charter of government for Dade County, Florida.... "Section 9 states "the intent of the legislature and of the electors of the State of Florida to provide by this section home rule for the people of Dade County in local affairs...."

That Charter may provide a method for "establishing...special taxing districts...and provide for their government and prescribe their jurisdiction and powers." <u>Id.</u>, § 11(1)(e)f. The Charter is dominant in Dade County governance:

In the absence of preemptive federal or state statutory or constitutional law, the paramount law of a charter county is its charter. Cf. <u>City of Miami Beach</u> v <u>Fleetwood Hotel, Inc.</u>, 261 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1972) (city charter). In essence, the charter acts as the county's constitution and, thus, ordinances must be in accordance with the charter.

<u>Hollywood, Inc.</u> v. <u>Broward County</u>, 431 So.2d 606,609 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

Pursuant to the Dade County Charter, in 1986 the voters amended § 1.01(A)(11) of the Charter to remove governance of the Metro-Dade Fire and Rescue Service from the Board of County

-8-

Commissioners. The will of the voters was firm, direct and unambiguous:

(T)he <u>Board of County Commissioners shall</u> <u>not be the governing body</u> of the Metro-Dade Fire and Rescue Service District... but said Fire and Rescue Service <u>District</u> <u>shall be aoverned by five members elected</u> for initial terms of two years by the registered voters of the Metro-Dade Fire and Rescue Service District. (emphasis supplied).

The County Commission responded to that Charter Amendment with the adoption of Ordinance § 18-33, setting forth the "Powers of the Governing Body" of the Metro-Dade Fire and Rescue Service District. The full text of § 18-33 is set forth at pp. 3-4, <u>supra</u>. The penultimate paragraph provides the crux of this case:

> The governing body shall have no power or authority to commit the county government to any policies or to incur any financial obligation or to create any liability on the part of the county or district. No actions or recommendations of this board shall be bindina upon either the county or the district until approved or adopted by the county commission. (emphasis supplied).

Thus § 18-33(a)-(e), and its final sentence, reversed the Charter Amendment by removing the governing power given to the Fire Board by the **Charter.**² Instead, the County Commission gave to

^{2/} Section 18-33(f) gave the governing body the power "to sue and be sued." The County concedes that power, so (f) is not in issue. 589 So.2d at 923, n.5 (Cope,J.,dissenting). The only portion of Ordinance § 18-27 (supra, p.4) at

The only portion of Ordinance § 18-27 (<u>supra</u>, **p.4**) at issue is subsection (e), which states that the governing body "shall serve without compensation, salary **or** remuneration of any nature, but the county commission may provide in the annual district budget sufficient funds for the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by the members in the performance of their duties and functions." By using the power of the purse, the County Commission thus sought to sap the strength of the governing body mandated by the Charter.

itself the very powers which the amended charter had prohibited: "[T]he Board of County Commissioners <u>shall not</u> <u>be</u> the governing body...." Charter, § 1.01(A)(11) (emphasis supplied).

There cannot be an honest quarrel about the meaning of "governing body." The <u>en banc</u> majority did not focus on the definition of governance, but the dissent wrote:

Under a standard definition, the "[g]overning body of [an] institution, organization or territory means that body which has ultimate power to determine its policies and control its activities." Black's Law Dictionary 625 (5th ed. 1979). Similarly, "govern" means "to direct and control, rule, or regulate, by authority." Id.

Under any common, ordinary meaning, and under the standard definitions outlined above, the County Commission is [now] the "governing body" under the 1987 ordinance [and] the Fire and Rescue Service Board is purely an advisory committee.... The County Commission cannot, after the fact, redefine "governing body" into oblivion, nor can the Commission, after the fact, make the 1986 [Charter Amendment] vote disappear by sleight of hand.

589 So.2d at 928 (Cope, J., dissenting).

The majority <u>en banc</u> opinion allowing the Commission to emasculate the Fire and Rescue Service Board was premised upon this view:

> As the legislative body, the County Commission which created the Fire Board retains the power to abolish it. Surely, then, the County Commission can exercise the lesser power of limiting the duties and functions of the Fire Board.

589 So.2d at 923. That political syllogism would be correct were it not for the Charter amendment which explicitly said the County

-10-

Commission "<u>shall</u> <u>not</u> be the governing body," and explicitly placed governance in the hands of the "five members elected...by the registered voters of the District." Dade County Charter, § 1.01 (A)(11) (1986) (emphasis supplied). The power to abolish the District does not carry with it the power to contravene the Charter's command that as long as there is a District, the County Commission shall not govern it.

In addition, it is not entirely correct to say that the County Commission "created the Fire Board." The voters, <u>via</u> their Charter amendment which removed governance from the Commission is the genesis of the Fire Board. The Ordinance "creating" the Fire Board was required by the Charter amendment. The County Commission did create the Fire and Rescue Service District. It could abolish the District, but it has not done so. By allowing the Commission to abolish the Board's governing body authority **because** the Commission could have abolished the District itself, the court below allowed the County to have its cake (the District) and devour its governance. That contravened the Charter amendment which plainly said that as long as there was a District Fire and Rescue Service, the County could not govern it.

A second conclusion critical to the <u>en banc</u> majority was:

The amendment [to the Charter] did not set forth the <u>powers</u> to be enjoyed by that governing body. The determination of those powers remained within the County Commission's province. The Charter nowhere curtails the County Commission's authority over the governing body it created. (emphasis in original).

589 So.2d at 924. That construct is flawed because, while the Charter amendment did not set forth the powers of the governing

-11-

body, the Charter amendment unambiguously terminated the Commission's governing authority over the District.

As noted above, the Commission <u>had</u> to create the Fire and Rescue Service Board because the Charter mandated a new governing body. To say that the Charter "nowhere curtails the County Commission's authority over the governing body it created" ignores the fact that the creation was mandated by the electorate and that the electorate stripped the Commission of governing power over the District. It is a <u>non-sequitur</u> to say that because the citizens commanded the Commission to create a governing body, the Commission retained the power to destroy that creation's reason for being: governance.

The Commission's creation and evisceration of the Fire Board was cynical. The <u>en banc</u> majority conclusion that it was legal was based upon the notion that the County Commission created the Fire and Rescue Service Board. While that may be literally true, it is not legally determinative of the issue in this case. The 1986 Charter amendment actually created the Fire Board, and that Charter amendment must control.

The <u>en</u> <u>banc</u> majority also used a collision of authority concept to support its view:

The 1986 Charter amendment did not alter the overall scheme of County governance under which the County Manager serves as chief executive officer and head of the administrative branch of the County government and directs County operations pursuant to a grant of authority from the County Commission. See generally Dade County Charter § 3.04. The Fire Board's interpretation of its powers is at adds with the County's scheme of governance and would accord the Fire Board decisionmaking power reserved by the Charter and

-12-

the Dade County Code to the County Manager and the County Commission.

589 So.2d at 923. Assuming arguendo there are any unanswered questions about the interaction between County officials and the Fire Board, or conflict with other provisions of the Charter, all such questions must be resolved in favor of the plain and unambiguous subsequent language of the 1986 Charter amendment:

> "[T]he Board of County Commissioners shall not be the governing body....' [The District] shall be governed by five members elected by the registered voters of the...District.

Accepted rules of constitutional construction require that the 1986 Charter amendment override anything inconsistent with its clear mandate:

> When a newly adopted amendment does conflict with preexisting constitutional provisions, the new amendment necessarily supersedes the previous provisions. Otherwise, an amendment could no longer alter existing constitutional provisions and the amendment process might, in every case, be frustrated by the judicial determination that a given proposal conflicts with other provisions.

Floridians Against Casino Takeover v. Let's Help Florida, 363 So.2d 337,341-342 (Fla. 1978). Thus, the law is clear that the Fire and Rescue Service Board must now be allowed to govern the district, no matter how one may interpret other sections of the Charter or the Dade County Code.

This case involves plain, unambiguous language in the document controlling Dade County governance. That language must be given its usual and obvious meaning. <u>Citv of Jacksonville</u> v. <u>Glidden</u> <u>Co.</u>, 169 So. 216,217 (Fla. 1936). The voters of Dade County have told the County Commission that they (the Commission) shall not

-13-

govern the Fire and Rescue Service Board. The Commission has told the Fire and Rescue Service Board that the Charter means nothing-that the Commission will govern despite the plain words of the Charter. The Commission, with the approval of the <u>en banc</u> majority, has negated the meaning of the words of the amended Charter. But...

> "Words are not pebbles in alien juxtaposition; they have anly a communal existence; and not only does the meaning of each interpenetrate the other, but all in their aggregate take their purport from the setting in which they are used...."

<u>King</u> v. <u>St. Vincent's Hospital</u>, U.S. ____, 112 S.Ct. 570,573 (1991) (citation omitted). Here, the setting is the Charter--the law of the land in Dade County. The meaning of the County "shall <u>not</u> govern," and the meaning of the "newly elected body <u>shall</u> govern," is beyond peradventure. In their aggregate they compel the conclusion that Dade County Ordinances § 18-33 and § 18-27(e) conflict with the Charter, and are therefore invalid.

<u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the decision below should be reversed, and the case remanded with directions to affirm the trial court's summary judgment declaring § 18-33 and § 18-27(e) of the Dade County Code to be in conflict with Dade County Home Rule Charter § 1.01(A)(11) (1986).

-14-

Respectfully submitted,

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