IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CLERK, SUPREME CC CASE NO. 79-164 Chief Deputy Clerk	RT
METRO-DADE FIRE RESCUE SERVICE DISTRICT,	
Petitioner,	
VS .	
METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY,	
Respondent.	
·	
RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF	
On Appeal From The District Court Of Appeal Of Florida, Third District Case No. 89-2253	
ROBERT A. GINSBURG Dade County Attorney Metro Dade Center 111 N.W. 1st Street Suite 2810 Miami, Florida 33128 Tel: 305/375-5151 By	
Murray A. Greenberg First Assistant County Attorney	
Lee Kraftchick Assistant County Attorney	
and	
William X. Candela Assistant County Attorney	
OFFICE OF COUNTY ATTORNEY, DADE COUNTY FLORIDA

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Contrary to the Fire Board's suggestion, the question in this case is not whether the County Commission has the authority to pass ordinances which violate its own Charter, but whether the County Commission has the authority to determine what powers of governance the Fire Board should exercise. There is a significant difference between asserting that the Fire Board cannot govern at all, and merely stating that the Board's authority to govern is limited to certain governmental powers.

issue this raises is Once the case accurately identified, resolution of the parties' dispute is straightforward. The Third District Court of Appeals has already concluded that, as between the Fire Board as the Fire District's governing body and the Dade County Commission as the Fire District's legislative body, it is the Commission that has the authority to determine what powers of governance the Fire Board may exercise. As the appellate court explained, "the determination of what powers may be exercised by the governing body of the Fire District is not **up** to the governing body itself, but to the legislative body that created the **District."** 589 So.2d at 923. The Dade County preserves the County Commission's legislative Charter authority over the Fire District to define the Fire Board's powers of governance.

a

Governing authority and legislative power are two distinct legal concepts. Legislative authority is the right to define and delineate the governing body's jurisdiction and sphere of control. Governance is the exercise of those legislatively delegated powers. The 1986 Charter amendment removed the County Commission as the Fire District's governing body, but left unaffected the Commission's legislative authority over the District. Accordingly, the Commission's legislative authority continues to include the authority to define by ordinance the powers of the District's governing body.

а

The Petitioner erroneously assumes that as the governing body of the Fire District, it is entitled to define for itself which powers of government it wishes to exercise. The law, however, is directly to the contrary. Special districts possess no powers other than those expressly granted by the legislative body that creates them.

As the Fire District's legislature, the County Commission has **decided** to grant the Fire Board only those powers listed in the ordinances the Commission has enacted. In rejecting the Fire Board's attempt to garner greater powers, the Third District did nothing more than apply the well-established principle that a governing body of a special district can exercise no powers other than those granted to it by **the** legislative body that created it.

ARGUMENT

A" <u>The Third District Court of Appeals Properly</u> <u>Held that the Dade County Commission has the</u> <u>Legislative Authority to Define the Powers of</u> <u>the Dade County Fire and Rescue District's</u> <u>Governing Body.</u>

Prior to the **1986** referendum, the Dade County Charter provided:

The Board of County Commissioners <u>shall be</u> <u>the legislative</u> and the governing body of the County and shall have the power to carry on a central metropolitan government. This power shall include but shall not be restricted to the power to:

11. By ordinance, establish, merge, and abolish special purpose districts within which may be provided police and fire protection. The Board of County Commissioners shall be the governing body of all such districts and when acting as such governing body shall have the same jurisdiction and powers when acting as the board.

Charter §1.01(A) (11) (emphasis added).

а

From its inception, the Charter has drawn a distinction between the County Commission's legislative and governing powers.⁴ This distinction is fundamental to an understanding

⁴The Charter is Dade County's constitution. <u>Dade County</u> <u>V. Youns Democratic Club of Dade Countv.</u> 104 So.2d 636 (Fla. 1958); <u>Chase v. Cowart</u>, 102 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1958). The law presumes every word in a constitution has independent meaning. <u>State v. Board of Co. Com'rs. of Orange Countv.</u> 3 So.2d 360, 362 (Fla. 1941); <u>Taylor v. Dorsey</u>, 19 So.2d 876, 882 (Fla. 1944).

of this case, for the only change brought about by the 1986 Charter Amendment was to substitute the Fire Board as the <u>governing</u> body of the Fire District without altering the County Commission's legislative authority as the District's <u>legislative</u> body. The amendment also did not alter the Commission's authority to create or abolish special purpose districts, including the Fire District. The amendment did nothing more than state that so long as the fire protection district created by Ordinance No. 80-86 continues to exist, the governing body of the District shall be five elected officials.

Although the amendment could have altered the Commission's authority to act as the District's legislative body, it simply did not do so. Because the Charter amendment itself did not confer any express power on the Fire Board, the Roard must look elsewhere for the source of the powers it seeks to exercise. Because the Fire District was created by an ordinance enacted by the County Commission, it is to that body that the Fire Board must look to obtain such powers of governance. As this Court explained in State v. Dade County. 142 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1962):

> Under the constitution of this state, plenary power exists in the legislature over all municipalities of this state. <u>This</u> <u>power</u>, formerly residing in the legislature insofar as municipal corporations of Dade County are concerned, as limited by the Home Rule Charter, <u>is now vested in the Board of</u> <u>County Commissioners</u> and may be exercised by said Board to the extent that it does not

conflict with the provisions of the Constitution and general laws effecting all municipalities, except in such instances as may be expressly authorized by the constitutional amendment granting home rule to the County.

Id. at 86 (emphasis supplied).

Although State v. Dade County dealt with the County Commission's legislative authority over local municipalities, its reasoning applies with equal force to local special Like municipalities, the powers of districts. special districts are limited to those granted by legislative enactment. The Home Rule Charter gives the County Commission even greater authority over locally created special districts than it does over local municipalities. <u>Compare Charter</u> **§1.01(A)(11)** (giving the Commission the unfettered discretion to "establish, merge and abolish special districts) to Charter Article 5 (preserving certain rights to municipalities).

The Fire Board has conceded that since the County created the Fire District, it therefore has the right to abolish the District. The Board argues, however, that the County cannot legislatively exercise the lesser power of limiting the duties or functions of the governing board. But as the Third District Court of Appeals recognized, the County Commission's power to create and abolish the Fire District "surely" carries with it "the lesser power of limiting the duties and functions of the Fire Board." <u>Accord Miami-Dade</u> <u>Water and Sewer Authority v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 503 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) ("When a legislative body has the power to create by ordinance, it has by implication, the power to amend, modify or repeal by ordinance.").⁵

The Fire Board makes much of the fact that its status as the District's governing body is mandated by the Dade County Charter, but the Charter states merely that the District shall be governed by the Fire Board, **it** does not say what

а

⁵See, also. City of Miami v. Rodriguez-Quesada, 388 So.2d 258, 259 (Fla. 3d 1980) ("It is the general rule that the power to create an office generally includes the power to modify or abolish it even though the office is occupied by a duly elected incumbent."); <u>State v. Crooks,</u> 15 So.2d 675, 676 (Fla. 1943) ("It is academic that municipal and other corporations over which the legislature has plenary authority may be abolished, <u>modified</u>, and changed within the discretion of the legislature."); Gallas v. Sanchez, 405 P.2d 772, 775 (Haw. 1965) ("It is well established that the legislature having created the office or public position, may alter its terms or abolish it entirely,"); Collins v. Russell, 33 S.E. 444, 445 (Ga. 1899) ("The legislature may abolish [an] office before [the] term expires, may modify its duties, may shorten or lengthen the term and increase or diminish the salary, or chancre the mode of compensation."); Smylie v. Williams. 341 P.2d 451, 453 (S.Ct., Idaho 1959) ("Where an office is of legislative creation, the legislature can modify, control **or** abolish it...."); Dupont v. Kember, 501 F, Supp, 1081, 1085 (M.D. La. 1980) ("A state legislature may at its pleasure create or abolish state offices, may <u>modify</u> their duties and may also shorten or lengthen the term of service."); Barrows **v. Garvey, 193** P.2d **913, 14** (S.Ct. Az. 1948) ("There is no doubt of the power of the legislature which creates an office to abolish it or to <u>chancre</u> it."); <u>In Re Bulser</u>, 45 Cal. 553, 557 (Cal. 1873) ("The legislature created the office, and it had full power to abolish or <u>chancre</u> it, or extend or abridge the terms of incumbents at its pleasure."). McQuillen, Municipal Corporations, 54.05 (3d Ed.) (1988) ("[T]he legislature may wholly or partially withdraw or resume powers conferred on municipal corporations, and the legislature may ... return such powers to itself.... Unless restricted by the constitution, the <u>legislature may strip a municipality of</u> every power leaving it a corporation in name only."). (All emphasis added).

powers of governance the Board can exercise. Whether a special district obtains its governing powers directly from a constitution or charter provision, or merely from a statute or ordinance, the district is still subject to the legislative authority of the body that created it. In **Bronson v. Board of Public Instructors of Osceola County, 145 so. 833** (Fla. 1933), for example, this court held that a provision of the state constitution mandating that school districts be supervised by elected boards of trustees, did not preclude the legislature from later restructuring such districts.⁶

The Fire Board's suggestion that the County Commission has somehow interfered with its right to govern the Fire District by enacting the implementing ordinances confuses the right to govern, now granted by the Charter to the Board, with the right to exercise the legislative power to determine what powers of governance the Board possesses. The County Commission's legislative powers were untouched by the 1986 Charter amendment. Merely granting a special district the

^{&#}x27;Similarly, in <u>Cowell V. Avers.</u> 220 S.W. **764** (Tex. 1920), the court held that inclusion of an office in a constitutional provision did not restrict the legislature's authority to abolish or restructure the office. The court explained that constitutional boards are still creatures of the legislature and the legislature's power over such boards "ought not to be restrained further than the people have plainly ordained." <u>Id.</u> at 766. <u>Accord. Michaelis V. City of Long Beach</u>, 360 N.Y.S.2d 473 (S.Ct.App.N.Y, 1974); <u>Walker V. Massie</u>, 121 S.E. 2d **448** (S.Ct.App.Va. 1961).

right to govern carries with it no inherent power other than the right to sue and be sued. <u>Prout v. Inhabitants of Fire</u> <u>District of Town of Pittsfield</u>, 28 N.E. 679 (Mass. 1891). To exercise any greater power, the legislative body that created the district must enact legislation conferring the asserted **power** upon the district.

The County Commission decided to confer upon the Fire District only those powers enumerated in the implementing ordinances. While the Fire Board complains that those powers are not sufficient for it to accomplish all of the things it desires,⁷ it is not for the Fire Board itself to decide what powers of governance are sufficient. If the legislative body (<u>i.e.</u>, the County Commission) wishes to give the governing body the power to levy taxes, enact a budget or issue bonds, it certainly may do so. Conversely, the legislative body also has the authority to deny the governing body such powers and to limit the governing body's role as stringently as the legislative body deems appropriate. what this all amounts to is the simple proposition that the determination of what

⁷For example, the Fire Board continues to insist that Ordinance 18-27(e) is invalid because it prevents the members of the Board from setting their own compensation. Petitioner's Initial Brief at 9, fn.2. Nothing in the Charter, however, mandates that the members of the governing body of the Fire Board set their own salary. Indeed, even the four dissenters agreed that "the County Commission may, consistently with the Charter, set the compensation of the That portion of subsection (e) does not Board members. reduce the power of the Board to act as governing body of the District." 589 So.2d at 929.

powers may be exercised by a governing body is not up to the governing body itself, but to the legislative body that created it.

Before the 1986 Charter amendment, no one disputed the County Commission's legislative authority to define and limit the powers of the Fire District's governing body. The Fire Board argues, however, that since the passage of the amendment, the Commission has somehow been stripped of any legislative authority to control the Fire Board's powers. But the Board's argument cannot be reconciled with the provisions of the Dade County Charter, which give the County Commission plenary authority over special purpose districts, or with the language of the amendment itself, which places no limitations on any previously held power of the Commission, other than to state that the District will now have a new The Dade County Charter continues to vest governing body. the County Commission with legislative authority, including the authority to create and abolish the Fire District. Nothing in the 1986 amendment affects that authority.

By creating a new governing body, the 1986 Charter Amendment did nothing more than make the Fire District's governing body an entity distinct from the County Commission. The Amendment could have completely altered the authority of the County Commission by denying it the right to thereafter modify or abolish the District, but it simply **did** not do **so.** Both before and after the 1986 amendment, the Commission

retained its legislative authority to control all of the special districts within the County. The Charter continues to recognize the distinction between the County as a governing body and the County as a legislative body. The County's legislative authority to define and delineate its subordinate governing body's jurisdiction and powers still The Fire Board simply refuses to acknowledge any exists. distinction between what it means to be a governing body, on one hand and a legislative body, on the other. Legislative authority is the right to define and delineate the governing body's jurisdiction and sphere of control. Governance is the exercise of those legislatively delegated powers. The "plain meaning" of the Charter Amendment makes the Fire Board the District's governing body, but leaves the County Commission as the District's legislative body.

The question in this case is not, as the Fire Board suggests, whether the County can violate its own Charter by passing ordinances which prevent the Fire Board from governing the Fire District, but whether the County Commission's conceded legislative authority over the governing body of the District includes the authority to determine what powers the District's governing body may exercise. While the Fire Board acknowledges the Commission's legislative authority to abolish the Fire District, it refuses to address the question of whether the County may do anything less, <u>i.e.</u>, define the spheres of governance of the

governing body. As the Third District has already concluded, the County Charter compels the conclusion that the County Commission has plenary authority to define the spheres of governance of the Fire District.

B. <u>The Governing Body of a Special District has</u> no Authority to Exercise any Powers other than those Conferred upon it by Law.

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